FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

10 SEP 24 PM 12:20

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY  _____
DEPUTY

No. 40333-1-II

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

Kenneth Slert,

Appellant.

Lewis County Superior Court Cause No. 04-1-00043-7

The Honorable Judge James Lawler

Appellant's Opening Brief

Jodi R. Backlund
Manek R. Mistry
Attorneys for Appellant

BACKLUND & MISTRY
203 East Fourth Avenue, Suite 404
Olympia, WA 98501
(360) 339-4870
FAX: (866) 499-7475

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court erred by admitting Mr. Slert's unwarned custodial statements to Ranger Nehring, Ranger Langley, and Ranger Kirschner.
2. The trial court erred by admitting statements that were not sufficiently insulated from Mr. Slert's prior unwarned custodial statements to Rangers Nehring, Langley, and Kirschner.
3. The trial court erred by admitting evidence obtained by exploiting Mr. Slert's unwarned custodial statements.
4. The trial court erred by admitting custodial statements made following Detective Wetzold's failure to scrupulously honor Mr. Slert's invocation of his right to remain silent.
5. The trial court erred by admitting Mr. Slert's unwarned custodial statements to Sheriff McCroskey during the drive from the scene to the jail.
6. The trial court erred by admitting Mr. Slert's custodial statements to detectives following his arrival at the jail, because those statements were tainted by his prior unwarned statements and by the failure to scrupulously honor his invocation of his right to remain silent.
7. The trial court erred by admitting evidence and statements obtained in violation of Mr. Slert's Fourth Amendment rights.
8. The trial court erred by admitting evidence and statements obtained in violation of Mr. Slert's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7.
9. The trial court erred by denying Mr. Slert's motion to suppress evidence obtained from a warrantless search of his campsite.
10. The police violated Mr. Slert's right to privacy and his right to be free from unreasonable seizures by detaining him in handcuffs for nearly five hours without arresting him.
11. The trial court erred by admitting evidence obtained by exploiting the nearly five-hour detention.
12. Mr. Slert was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel.
13. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the admission of Mr. Slert's statements under the *corpus delicti* rule.

14. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to propose instructions on the lesser-included offense of Manslaughter in the First Degree.
15. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to propose instructions on the lesser-included offense of Manslaughter in the Second Degree.
16. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to seek suppression (and/or to argue the correct grounds for suppression) of evidence and statements.
17. Defense counsel was ineffective for failing to argue Mr. Slert's mental health issues in mitigation of his sentence.
18. The trial court violated Mr. Slert's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront witnesses by restricting cross-examination of jailhouse informant Schwenk.
19. The trial court violated Mr. Slert's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront witnesses by restricting cross-examination of Sheriff McCroskey.
20. The trial court violated Mr. Slert's First, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendment right to an open and public trial.
21. The trial court violated Mr. Slert's right to an open and public trial right by conducting a closed hearing in chambers and dismissing four prospective jurors.
22. The trial court violated Mr. Slert's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to be present by dismissing four prospective jurors following a closed discussion in chambers.
23. The trial judge violated Mr. Slert's state constitutional right to a jury trial by refusing to excuse Juror No. 24 for cause and thereby forcing him to exhaust his peremptory challenges.
24. The court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 1.A.11.
25. The court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 1.A.14.
26. The court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 1.A.15.
27. The court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 1.A.17.
28. The court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 1.B.2.
29. The court erred by entering Finding of Fact No. 1.C.3.
30. The court erred by entering Conclusion of Law No. 2.3.
31. The court erred by entering Conclusion of Law No. 2.4.

32. The court erred by entering Conclusion of Law No. 2.5.
33. The court erred by entering Order No. 3.1.
34. The court erred by entering Order No. 4.1.
35. The court erred by entering Order No. 4.2.
36. The court erred by entering Order No. 4.3.
37. The court erred by entering Order No. 4.4.
38. The court erred by entering Order No. 4.5.

ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. An accused person's custodial statements are presumed to be coerced and may not be admitted at trial unless the prosecution establishes they were preceded by Miranda warnings and a valid waiver of the right to remain silent. Here, the prosecution failed to establish that Mr. Slert was advised of his rights before being asked about Benson's death. Did the trial court err by admitting his unwarned custodial statements?
2. Police must scrupulously honor a suspect's invocation of his or her right to remain silent. In this case, Mr. Slert invoked his right to remain silent but even after this, detectives asked him questions and told him that his version of events was inconsistent with the evidence. Did the trial court err by refusing to suppress statements made after Mr. Slert invoked his right to remain silent?
3. Except in limited circumstances, police may not search a dwelling or its curtilage without a search warrant. In this case, the police failed to obtain a search warrant prior to searching Mr. Slert's tent and his campsite. Did the warrantless search of Mr. Slert's tent and campsite violate his Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures and his right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7?
4. An investigatory seizure must be limited in duration, and officers must use the least intrusive means available to dispel or confirm their suspicions. Here, Mr. Slert was handcuffed and held at the scene for 5 hours while the officers investigated. Did the lengthy detention violate Mr. Slert's right to privacy under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 7?

5. The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an accused person the right to the effective assistance of counsel. Mr. Slert's defense counsel unreasonably failed to request instructions on the lesser-included offense of Manslaughter in the First or Second Degree. Was Mr. Slert denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective assistance of counsel?

6. A reasonably competent defense attorney must vigorously defend his or her client, and must be familiar with relevant legal authority. In this case, defense counsel failed to seek suppression of certain evidence and statements, and failed to argue the correct grounds for suppression. If Mr. Slert's suppression issues are not preserved for appellate review, was he denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments?

7. A reasonably competent defense attorney will argue for an appropriate sentence using available evidence that mitigates the offender's culpability. In this case, defense counsel failed to use Mr. Slert's mental health problems to make the case for a sentence below the top of the standard sentencing range. Was Mr. Slert denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments?

8. An accused person has the constitutional right to confront witnesses. Here, the trial court restricted Mr. Slert's opportunity to cross-examine a jailhouse informant regarding his credibility. The judge also limited cross of the sheriff regarding an electronic recording that may have been made regarding Mr. Slert's custodial statements. Did the restriction on cross-examination violate Mr. Slert's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to confront witnesses?

9. An accused person has a constitutional right to a public and open trial. Here, the trial judge consulted with counsel in chambers and excused four prospective jurors based on their answers to a jury questionnaire. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Slert's right to a public trial under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution and Wash. Const. Article I, Section 22 by holding a hearing in chambers without first conducting any portion of a *Bone-Club* analysis?

10. An accused person has the constitutional right to be present at all critical stages of trial, including jury selection. In this case, the court met in chambers with counsel and excused four prospective jurors based on their answers to a jury questionnaire. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Slert's

right to be present under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and under Wash. Const. Article I, Section 22?

11. The state constitutional right to a jury trial is violated when an accused person is forced to exhaust peremptory challenges to remove a biased juror, after the trial judge erroneously denies a challenge for cause. In this case, the trial judge erroneously denied a challenge for cause, and Mr. Slert was forced to exhaust his peremptory challenges removing the biased juror. Did the trial judge violate Mr. Slert's state constitutional right to a jury trial?

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

A. On October 23, 2000 Kenneth Slert shot and killed a stranger during an altercation at Mr. Slert's campsite in the Gifford Pinchot National Forest.

On the evening of October 23, 2000, a stranger pulled up to Kenneth Slert's campsite in the Gifford Pinchot National Forest. RP¹ 491-492. Mr. Slert was at the time a 55-year-old veteran with a below average IQ, and diagnoses for anxiety disorder, panic disorder, and dysthymia.² RP 826-831, 840, 855-856; CP 1. He had no criminal history. CP 5.

Camping in that area of the National Forest is "dispersed camping", which means that people can camp wherever they wish, and that services like plumbing and electricity are not supplied. There are no

¹ The Verbatim Report of Proceedings for the trial was sequentially numbered, so citations to the trial will be simply to the page number. Citations to other hearings will include the date.

² Mr. Slert has been hospitalized more than once at Veteran's Administration hospitals for his mental health issues. RP 826-829

designated camp sites. RP (11/18/09) 23-24, 58, 65, 68-71. Mr. Slert's campsite was at a flat spot along a ridge, at the end of a dirt road off the main forest service road. RP (11/18/09) 49, 76. The campsite was surrounded by brush and tall timber. RP (11/18/09) 50. His tent consisted of two tarps tied with rope and twine onto a pole. RP (11/18/09) 53-54. The tent was perpendicular to the campsite's "driveway." RP (11/20/09) 38. An observer standing directly in front of the tent could see objects inside. RP (11/18/09) 50-54. An observer standing on the forest service road would not be able to make out details of the interior of the tent except by using binoculars. RP (11/18/09) 74. Near the tent, Mr. Slert had a fire ring, a chair, and a Coleman stove (set up on a log). RP (11/18/09) 82-83. The tent was small and primitive; most camping activities would have to take place in the campsite area surrounding it. RP (11/20/09) 66-69, 97.

When the truck pulled up that day, the driver, later identified as John Benson, invited Mr. Slert to sit in the cab and talk, and Mr. Slert climbed into the passenger side. The two of them spoke, passing a bottle of whiskey back and forth. RP 492, 548.

Benson was five feet ten inches tall, and weighed 235 pounds. RP 335. He was not accustomed to drinking, and was soon intoxicated. Subsequent testing revealed that he had a blood alcohol content of .23. RP 153-154, 405, 764-769. He became disagreeably belligerent, and the two

men began to argue. Benson made numerous anti-government statements, leaned across the seat and got in Mr. Slert's face, yelling and shoving Mr. Slert. Mr. Slert punched Benson once or twice in return. RP 492, 548-550, 616.

After this scuffle, Mr. Slert got out of the truck and walked across his campsite to light a lantern. Benson also got out of the truck and followed Mr. Slert. He pushed, shoved, and grabbed at Mr. Slert, "mauling him like a bear" and "putting his hands to Mr. Slert's throat." RP 492-494.

The two ended up at the entrance to Mr. Slert's tent, where Benson choked Mr. Slert. Mr. Slert broke free and crawled inside his tent to find his pistol. As Benson came after him through the tent entrance, he fired the pistol. RP 492. Mr. Slert crawled out of the tent, stepping over Benson's body in the dark. RP 495. As he stepped over Benson, Benson grabbed at his leg in what Mr. Slert later described as a "death grip." RP 517. Mr. Slert reacted by shooting Benson a second time. RP 495, 513. He knelt down next to Benson, and then walked around in shock for a while. He returned to his tent and sat down on his sleeping bag. Eventually, he fell asleep. RP 495, 513.

In the morning, after waking up and seeing the body, Mr. Slert took his antidepressant medication and drank more whiskey. RP 219; Exhibit 59; *see also* Transcript, Exhibit No. 132, Supp. CP. He covered

the body with a blue tarp from his vehicle, and tried, unsuccessfully, to call for help using Benson's cell phone and his CB radio. Unable to reach anyone (or to figure out how the cell phone worked), he got in his car and drove on the forest service road towards town. RP 495, 514, 745.

Mr. Slert flagged down a park ranger, and told him that he'd killed someone. RP 176-178. He told the ranger that he'd shot Benson because he was afraid of being choked to death, and that he'd been afraid for his life. RP 179, 187, 215, 217.

B. Mr. Slert was acquitted of first-degree murder; his conviction for second-degree murder was twice reversed on appeal.

After a delay of four years, the state charged Mr. Slert with Murder in the First Degree (with a firearm enhancement). CP 1-3. He was tried and the jury acquitted him of Murder in the First Degree, but convicted him of Murder in the Second Degree (with a firearm enhancement). Judgment and Sentence filed 6/18/2004, Supp. CP.

The Court of Appeals overturned his conviction because the trial court erroneously refused a jury instruction and because defense counsel provided ineffective assistance. Mandate with Unpublished Opinion (filed in Superior Court 9/19/2005), Supp. CP. Mr. Slert was convicted again on retrial; this second conviction was reversed because the trial judge violated the appearance of fairness doctrine, because of problems with jury

instructions, and because Mr. Slert was again deprived of the effective assistance of counsel. Judgment and Sentence filed 6/11/2007, Mandate with Unpublished Opinion (filed in Superior Court 6/2/2009), Supp. CP.

This timely appeal stems from his conviction following the third retrial. CP 13.

C. The trial court held a CrR 3.5 hearing to address the admissibility of Mr. Slert's statements.

Mr. Slert moved to suppress the statements he'd made, arguing (in part) that law enforcement did not scrupulously honor his invocation of rights. RP (11/18/09) 8-16; RP (11/20/09) 132-150; Motion to Suppress Statements, Memorandum of Authorities, State's Response to Motion to Suppress Statements, Supp. CP. The court held an evidentiary hearing on November 18 and 20, 2009.

1. Mr. Slert made statements to park rangers and law enforcement officers at the scene.

National Park Service Ranger Uwe Nehring testified that Mr. Slert flagged him down on the forest service road at 10:40 am, and told him that he had just shot someone and had the firearms with him in the car. RP (11/18/09) 18-19. Nehring directed Mr. Slert not to move and to put his hands outside his car window, while he seized the guns. RP (11/18/09) 19, 26-27. He asked what had happened, and Mr. Slert explained that he'd shot another person who had put him into a chokehold. RP (11/18/09) 20,

28. Ranger Nehring had Mr. Slert get out of the car, and took his knife from him. RP (11/18/09) 28.

Five to ten minutes after Mr. Slert flagged Nehring down, Ranger Kirschner and Ranger Langley arrived. RP (11/18/09) 21, 28. At that point, Nehring took Mr. Slert into “protective custody” and handcuffed him (although he testified that he did not have probable cause to arrest at that point). RP (11/18/09) 21, 28, 30, 33-34. Nehring then asked for Mr. Slert’s consent for a search of his car; he found alcohol, antidepressant medication, and ammunition. RP (11/18/09) 21, 31, RP (11/20/09) 8-9.

About twenty minutes after arriving, Ranger Langley put Mr. Slert into his forest service vehicle, still handcuffed. He and Kirschner drove Mr. Slert up to the campsite. RP (11/18/09) 33; RP (11/20/09) 29. On the way, they stopped and read Mr. Slert his rights. RP (11/18/09) 44; RP (11/20/09) 10. The rangers asked Mr. Slert for directions, but did not ask any questions about the incident. Despite this, Mr. Slert talked with them about the shooting during the entire 15 to 20 minute ride, both before and after he was administered his rights. RP (11/20/10) 10-14.

The rangers waited with Mr. Slert at the campsite for about 30-45 minutes; at that time Lewis County Sheriff’s Deputy Shannon arrived. RP (11/20/09) 19-20. She read Mr. Slert his rights. RP (11/18/09) 46, 226. Mr. Slert was still handcuffed in the back of Ranger Langley’s vehicle. RP

(11/18/09) 67, 233. Mr. Slert agreed to talk, and gave a brief summary of what had happened. RP (11/18/09) 47-49, 228.

Lewis County Sheriff's Detective Kurt Wetzold testified that he arrived at the campsite at 1:36 pm, and that he, too, read Mr. Slert his constitutional rights. RP (11/18/09) 90, 92. Mr. Slert agreed to talk with him, and described what had happened at the campsite. RP (11/18/09) 95-98. Mr. Slert remained in handcuffs the entire time he was at the site. RP (11/18/09) 191.

Detective Wetzold asked Mr. Slert to give a taped statement, and Mr. Slert initially agreed. RP (11/18/09) 98. Wetzold started the recording and read Mr. Slert his rights again. RP (11/18/09) 98-99. Mr. Slert asked "Would I be better saying nothing as opposed to telling what I just told you?" Suppression Exhibit 11, Supp. CP. After Wetzold said that he couldn't really answer that question, Mr. Slert said, "All right. Why don't we just leave it at that then and uh, I won't say any more." Suppression Exhibit 11, Supp. CP.

Detective Wetzold stopped questioning Mr. Slert, but only temporarily. RP (11/18/09) 101, 176. While they processed the scene, both Wetzold and Lewis County Sheriff's Detective Brown asked Mr. Slert questions about various items they'd found at the campsite. RP (11/18/09) 203, 205, 207. They did this without reviewing his rights again, despite the

fact that he'd invoked his right to remain silent. RP (11/18/09) 204-205. Wetzold did not recall telling Brown or any other officers that Mr. Slert had chosen to remain silent, and he acknowledged that other officers might have asked Mr. Slert questions as well. RP (11/18/09) 207.

While Mr. Slert was still at the scene, handcuffed, Wetzold confronted Mr. Slert with information that was allegedly inconsistent with Mr. Slert's prior statements. RP (11/18/09) 202-204. Mr. Slert said that he was sticking with the same story. RP (11/18/09) 204.

2. Mr. Slert made statements to Lewis County's elected sheriff while being transported to the jail.

Sheriff McCroskey took Mr. Slert from the site to the jail, a drive of roughly two hours. RP (11/18/09) 104, 130. McCroskey said he did not know if Mr. Slert had been arrested, if he had been read his rights, if he'd invoked his right to remain silent, or if he had made any statements. RP (11/18/09) 125-127. At the suppression hearing, he testified that they discussed the case during the two-hour drive. RP (11/18/09) 107.

McCroskey claimed that Mr. Slert brought up the case, but also admitted that he (McCroskey) asked Mr. Slert questions about the shooting. RP (11/18/09) 127-128, 141. He acknowledged that he may have initiated some of their conversations about the case. RP (11/18/09) 127-128. At some point, Mr. Slert told him that before encountering Ranger

Nehring, he'd contemplated killing himself, fleeing the scene, or having a standoff with police. RP (11/18/09) 102.

3. Mr. Slert made statements to Detectives Wetzold and Brown at the jail that evening.

Late in the day, Wetzold and Brown drove together from the scene toward Chehalis. Wetzold told Brown that he had read Mr. Slert his rights, but he did not remember telling her that Mr. Slert had invoked his rights. RP (11/18/09) 209. According to Brown, Wetzold never said that Mr. Slert had invoked his right to remain silent. Instead, Brown was told Mr. Slert had merely declined to give a taped statement. RP (11/20/09) 69, 72.

Detective Brown consulted by telephone with Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney David Arcuri, who advised her that a refusal to be recorded was not an invocation of the right to remain silent. RP (11/20/09) 71-72. Brown testified that she would not have interviewed Mr. Slert if she was aware that he'd invoked his rights. RP (11/20/09) 72-73.

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