# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

NO. 40333-1

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

VS.

KENNETH SLERT,

Appellant.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of Lewis County

### **STATE'S RESPONSE BRIEF**

JONATHAN L. MEYER PROSECUTING ATTORNEY Law and Justice Center 345 W. Main St. 2nd Floor Chehalis WA 98532 360-740-1240

BRADLE MEACHER, WSBA 18685
Chief Criminal Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

#

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

### **ARGUMENT**

For ease of comparison, the State has used the same argument structure as the defense's opening brief. Each argument section is prefaced by a recapitulation of the relevant facts.

- I. No Fourth Amendment or Article I, section 7 violation occurred in this case.
  - A. The trial court's admission (without objection) of evidence from the consensual search of Mr. Slert's car was not a manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

Part of the trial evidence consisted of Slert's first interaction with law enforcement: Slert stopped his car short, flagged down Ranger Nehring, and told Ranger Nehring that he had just shot someone and still had the guns in his car. Ranger Nehring asked Slert what happened, removed the guns from Slert's car, and then took Slert into protective custody. He asked Slert's permission to search the car, which Slert granted. Ranger Nehring then performed the search. The defense never challenged the constitutionality of this search. On cross, the defense reiterated that Slert consented to the search and otherwise cooperated with law enforcement. VRP (trial) at 197.

Consent is an exception to the constitutional warrant requirement. State v. Garvin, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009). It was undisputed that Slert consented to the search. VRP (trial) at 182, 228. He initiated contact with Ranger Nehring for the express purpose of reporting the shooting. The defense's theory was that Slert did so because he had nothing to hide---the defense wanted the evidence of Slert's initial contact with Ranger Nehring in evidence to bolster Slert's argument that he had been truthful and cooperative from the outset and that his self-defense story was Under the circumstances, the State had no reason to true. introduce further evidence regarding Ranger Nehring's request for The trial court did not err to receive this admissible consent. evidence, especially in light of the defense failure to object. Even if error, the error would not be "manifest" because it was not "so obvious on the record that the [it] warrants appellate review." See State v. O'Hara, 167 Wn.2d 91, 99-100, 217 P.3d 756 (2009) ("It is not the role of an appellate court on direct appeal to address claims where . . . trial counsel could have been justified in [his] actions or failure to object."). Moreover, any error was harmless because it bolstered the defense case. See id. (distinguishing the "manifest" and "harmless error" analyses).

B. The search of the public land surrounding Mr. Slert's tent, and the testimony regarding items in open view, were permissible under the law of the case and the state and federal constitutions.

The crime scene centered around Slert's tent, which was pitched in a "dispersed camping" area in which there were no designated campsites and no Forest-Service-provided fire pits or facilities. See VRP (Nov. 20, 2009) at 23-24, 55-60 (contrasting designated campsites with "dispersed camping"). This area was open to the public, so Slert had no right to exclude anyone from the grounds near his tent. In fact, the victim drove right up to the scene despite never having met Slert before. Once law enforcement arrived and verified that the victim was deceased, officers thoroughly searched the grounds for evidence. They also looked into Slert's tent, which was open on one side, from outside the entrance and saw certain items in open view. Afterwards, the officers searched Slert's tent itself.

During the first trial, the parties stipulated that the evidence seized from inside Slert's tent was inadmissible. State's Response to 3.6 Motion to Suppress Evidence, CP 274 at 4. However, they agreed that the evidence seized from the area around Slert's tent, and testimony regarding what law enforcement saw in open view

within the tent, was admissible. The court accepted the stipulation, which was reduced to a written order. *Id.* at 4 & ex. 3. The defense renewed its challenge to the search of Slert's tent and the area nearby during this (third) trial. Consistent with the first trial, the court below ruled that Slert had an expectation of privacy in his tent, but did not have an expectation of privacy or any "curtilage" surrounding his tent. The court therefore suppressed any evidence seized from within the tent, but allowed evidence from the search of the area outside the tent and testimony about what the officers could see in open view when they looked into the tent from the outside.

The first trial court's decision to suppress only evidence from within Slert's tent---i.e., not evidence from the surrounding area or evidence seen in open view from there---was binding in the third trial as the law of the case. The law of the case doctrine prevents relitigation of previously adjudicated matters when a case is remanded. See State v. Worl, 129 Wn.2d 416, 425, 918 P.2d 905 (1996) ("[Q]uestions determined on appeal, or which might have been determined had they been presented, will not again be considered on a subsequent appeal if there is no substantial change in the evidence at a second determination of the cause."

(quoting Folsom v. County of Spokane, 111 Wn.2d 256, 263-64, 759 P.2d 1196 (1988)). The resolution of any issue not preserved as error and appealed on after trial becomes binding upon the parties. *Id.* Here, because the first trial court addressed the legitimacy of the search of Slert's campsite and Slert did not appeal its decision, Slert was barred from relitigating the search issue in the subsequent trials. The trial court in this third trial properly followed the ruling of the prior court.

Moreover, this ruling is the correct one under the state and federal constitutions. Slert challenges the officers' authority of law to search the "curtilage" of his tent without a warrant. No warrant was necessary: the tent was on public land in a dispersed camping area, from which Slert could not exclude the public. At common law, the term curtilage denoted the fenced-in private property surrounding a home, which was part of the homeowner's estate. See State v. Engel, 166 Wn.2d 572, 579-580, 210 P.3d 1007 (2009) (defining burglary with reference to common-law curtilage). Although the focus of the Fourth Amendment and Article I, section 7 has shifted to privacy rather than property rights, curtilage still retains its connection to the private property surrounding a home. See, e.g., State v. Ross, 141 Wn.2d 304, 312-13, 4 P.3d 130

(2000) (examining the police's ability to intrude upon the defendant's driveway). The fact that curtilage is private land is what imbues it with constitutional protection, because that is the basis for the proprietor's reasonable expectation of privacy in it. See, e.g., State v. Cleator, 71 Wn. App. 217, 220-21, 857 P.2d 306 (1993) (summarizing several cases in which the defendant had no expectation of privacy in land, which was not his, surrounding his temporary dwelling). Thus, without some indication that the land surrounding a tent on public land is distinct or private, the occupant has no reasonable expectation of privacy in the area around the tent.<sup>2</sup>

The campsite here was especially open: the victim in this case drove right up to Slert's tent without any invitation despite being a complete stranger to Slert. VRP (trial) at 179, 264-65, 492; VRP (Nov. 18, 2009) at 229. Far from thinking that the victim was violating his privacy, Slert engaged him in conversation and even got into his truck to share a drink. *Id.* These circumstances prove

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The State does not maintain that curtilage could *never* surround a home on public land. A rented and numbered campsite, for example, might constitute curtilage because the area is designated as separate, the camper can reserve the space ahead of time, and the camper can exclude others from the site during the duration of the rental.

that Slert had no expectation of privacy nor any "curtilage" in the area around his tent.

Because the officers needed no warrant to search the public land surrounding Slert's campsite, the "open view" doctrine allowed testimony about what the officers saw in Slert's tent when looking into it from the outside. See generally State v. Seagull, 95 Wn.2d 898, 632 P.2d 44 (1981). An officer is free to keep his eyes open when traversing space a regular citizen would be able to traverse. Id. at 902. Here, the officers were allowed to be in the area surrounding Slert's tent because it was public land and they had legitimate business there, investigating Benson's death. They saw items in open view within Slert's tent from their permissible vantage point. The open view doctrine permits them to testify to what they saw. See id. at 902-03.

Ross is also instructive. In Ross, officers walked up the defendant's driveway at night to see if they could smell marijuana growing in his garage; they did not attempt to contact the homeowner at any time. Ross, 141 Wn.2d at 307-08. The general rule was that "an officer with legitimate business, when acting in the same manner as a reasonably respectful citizen, is permitted to

enter the curtilage areas of a private residence which are impliedly open." *Id.* at 312. However, the officers' entry under cover of darkness to view the defendant's garage was not something a regular citizen could do—it was trespass. *Id.* at 314. The open view exception therefore did not apply to their observations. *Id.* In this case, any citizen could have walked up to Slert's tent because the land was public. That it was "impliedly open" is demonstrated by the fact that Benson could drive right up to Slert's tent as a stranger. Unlike *Ross*, where the officers' investigation of crime did not give them permission to walk up the defendant's driveway, Slert himself reported the shooting and directed the officers to his campsite. The officers' examination of the site was clearly legitimate business. Because the officers had authority to be in the area surrounding Slert's tent, the open view doctrine applies.

Finally, it is worth noting that suppression of the evidence seized from Slert's tent, which was part of the agreed resolution of this issue during the first trial, was not a foregone conclusion. The "plain view" exception (which is different than the open view doctrine) arguably applied to everything found in the tent. However, the State recognizes that it is bound by the first trial court's ruling, just as the defense ought to be bound by it. The

State asks this court to affirm the ruling of the trial court as a fair, balanced, and well-reasoned resolution of the matter.

C. Mr. Slert's initial detention, which became an arrest, was constitutional because Mr. Slert was in public and there was probable cause that he murdered Benson.

When Slert contacted Ranger Nehring to admit to the shooting, Nehring immediately detained Slert and removed Slert's guns from the front passenger seat. Nehring spoke with Slert about the incident. As two other Rangers arrived, Nehring placed Slert in protective custody and asked for consent to search Slert's car, which Slert granted. While Nehring performed the search, the other Rangers transported Slert to the scene of the shooting to verify Slert's account and to attempt to render aid. These officers Mirandized Slert on the way to the scene. Slert remained in custody while emergency personnel arrived and verified that Benson had been shot and was deceased. Other law enforcement arrived and took over the investigation. At least two other officers read Slert his constitutional rights when they encountered him in custody at the scene. However, no officer ever formally arrested Slert. LCSO Chief McCroskey eventually volunteered to drive Slert to jail. Upon arriving at the jail, Slert was placed in a holding cell to await two detectives. The two detectives arrived after finishing their

investigation at the scene, whereupon they reminded Slert of his constitutional rights, spoke with him, and obtained a fully-Mirandized taped statement. Slert was booked into jail. See VRP (Nov. 18, 2009) at 213-14. The next day he consented to a polygraph examination. VRP (Nov. 20, 2009) at 115-16. Afterwards, he was released from custody without charges. VRP (Nov. 18, 2009) at 178. The prosecutor's office filed charges much later.

For the first time on appeal, Slert now claims that his detention was unconstitutional. Searches and seizures are constitutionally permissible if "reasonable" under the Fourth Amendment and undertaken with "authority of law" under Article I, section 7. Both constitutions permit an officer to seize someone for investigative purposes without a warrant if the officer has reasonable suspicion that the person has committed a crime. See Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-24, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968) (federal constitution); State v. Acrey, 148 Wn.2d 738, 747, 64 P.3d 594 (2003) (same); State v. Brown, 154 Wn.2d 787, 796, 117 P.3d 336 (2005) (state constitution). The seizure is allowed when the officer has specific and articulable facts warranting the officer's suspicion. Acrey, at 747. The length of the seizure must

be limited: if the ensuing investigation dispels the officer's suspicions, the stop must end, but the stop may persist or be extended if the officer's suspicions are confirmed or further aroused. *Id.* The officer may detain a suspect for safety purposes during an investigation or consent search. *See, e.g., State v. King,* 89 Wn. App. 612, 618-20, 949 P.2d 856 (1998); *see also Michigan v. Summers,* 452 U.S. 692, 702-03, 101 S. Ct. 2587, 69 L. Ed. 2d 340 (1981) (recognizing the legitimate interest in officer safety).

Separately, both the state and federal constitutions permit warrantless arrests when the officer has probable cause that a suspect who is in a public place has committed a felony. See RCW 10.31.100 (providing authority of law for such arrests); State v. Solberg, 122 Wn.2d 688, 696, 861 P.2d 460 (1993); State v. Ringer, 100 Wn.2d 686, 692, 674 P.2d 1240 (1983) (approving of the rule as part of the common law); New York v. Harris, 495 U.S. 14, 18, 110 S. Ct. 1640, 109 L. Ed. 2d 13 (1990) (noting that the rule had "long been settled" under the federal constitution). Both constitutions also recognize an "independent source" doctrine, which approves of searches and seizures if they are invalid for one reason but constitutional under some independent rationale. State

v. Gaines, 154 Wn.2d 711, 722, 116 P.3d 993 (2005); accord Statev. Winterstein, 167 Wn.2d 620, 633-34, 220 P.3d 1226 (2009).

this case, Ranger Nehring immediately acquired reasonable suspicion to detain Slert when Slert told him he had shot another man and still possessed the gun. This was a specific. articulable fact that would cause any reasonable person to suspect Slert of homicide. The more the Ranger investigated, the more his suspicions were confirmed: Slert in fact had a gun and appeared to have consumed alcohol. He indicated that he shot the other man because the other man attacked him, but admitted he was drunk at the time. Furthermore, he did not report the death right away, which Ranger Nehring thought highly unusual. In all, the Ranger had ample reason to suspect Slert of a homicide---the logical thing to do was extend the stop to investigate Slert's story.3 Had there been no evidence of Slert's claim, their suspicions might have been dispelled and Slert released. Upon arriving, however, they saw the victim's body by Slert's tent. Again, the evidence confirmed their suspicions.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Slert also consented to go with the Rangers to the scene. VRP (trial) at 228, 240-41. He self-reported the incident and was as cooperative as possible. After being *Mirandized*, he directed the officers to his campsite.

At some later point, this continued detention exceeded the scope of *Terry* and became an arrest.<sup>4</sup> *Cf. State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733, 741, 689 P.2d 1065 (1984) (holding that probable cause to arrest becomes necessary in such a situation). However, as soon as the officers discovered the victim's body, they had probable cause to believe that Slert, who admitted to the shooting in detail, had committed a homicide. They did not have to credit Slert's self-defense claim, which was self-serving and inconsistent with Slert's delay in reporting. Therefore, the officers had probable cause to arrest Slert before *Terry* ceased to justify his detention.

Under the constitution, the officers' initial seizure of Slert was justified under *Terry*, as was their extension of that stop to travel to the scene to verify Slert's claims. *See Acrey*, at 747. Once at the campsite, which was public property, the officers discovered Benson's body and so acquired probable cause justifying Slert's arrest. Slert's continued seizure was therefore both reasonable and supported by authority of law. RCW 10.31.100; *Solberg*, 122

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